Exploring Adoption Success of the Wildland Fire Decision Support System

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science with a Major in Natural Resources in the College of Graduate Studies University of Idaho by Peter Noble

Major Professor: Travis B. Paveglio, Ph.D. Committee Members: Penelope Morgan Ph.D.; Eva K. Strand, Ph.D. Department Administrator: Lee A. Vierling, Ph.D.

May 2019

Authorization to Submit Thesis

This thesis of Peter Noble submitted for the degree of Master of Science with a Major in Natural Resources and titled "Exploring Adoption Success of the Wildland Fire Decision Support System," has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates below, is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

Major Professor:	Travis B. Paveglio, Ph.D.	Date:
Committee Members:	Penelope Morgan, Ph.D.	Date:
	Eva K. Strand, Ph.D.	Date:
Department Administrator:	Lee A. Vierling, Ph.D.	Date:

Abstract

Increases in wildland fire frequency, size and duration have increased the threat of wildfire impacts to human and natural resource values and strained wildland firefighting resources. The increasing complexity seen in wildland fire management has highlighted the importance of sound decision making based on best available science. Numerous fire management decision support systems have been developed to enhance science and technology delivery and assist fire managers with decision-making tasks. However, no scientific efforts have evaluated their adoption by fire managers. Drawing upon decision support system implementation research and in-depth interviews with U.S. Forest Service fire managers, we explore their perceptions regarding the Wildland Fire Decision Support System (WFDSS). Although fire managers appreciate many of the components of WFDSS, they view WFDSS as primarily useful for documenting fire management decisions and often experience on-the-ground actions that are disconnected with decisions developed or documented in WFDSS. Fire managers furthermore attribute these concerns to factors related to the timeliness of WFDSS outputs, the complexity of the WFDSS design, and the manner in which WFDSS was implemented. We discuss how these challenges may be addressed by improving training and top management support for WFDSS as well as better matching WFDSS capabilities and complexity to fire manager needs and abilities by increasing the user-friendliness of WFDSS and supporting more proactive decision support tools. We conclude by describing how future efforts to develop FMDSS may benefit from this research as well as the broader literature surrounding DSS implementation.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the mentorship of my major professor Dr. Travis Paveglio, who demonstrated exceptional patience and provided abundant guidance as I completed this research. I also thank my committee members Dr. Penny Morgan and Dr. Eva Strand for their insight and suggestions which added further depth to this research. I deeply appreciate my fellow CNR graduate students who supported me by sharing their advice and encouragement throughout my time at the University of Idaho. Finally, I thank the U.S. Forest Service Wildland Fire Research, Development, and Application program for funding this project, as well as the 42 U.S. Forest Service employees who agreed to be interviewed and took time out of their day to participate in this study.

Funding for this research was provided by the USFS Wildland Fire Management Research, Development and Application program grant # 16-JV-11221637-148. This institution is an equal opportunity provider

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my amazing family and friends for their unending support in my life, and to the extraordinary men and women in the wildland fire service with whom I have had the privilege to work alongside.

I am deeply indebted to my family, and especially to my parents, James and Kathy Noble. They have been constant source of love and support in my life and have made enormous sacrifices in order to encourage my education, support my interests, and provide a grace filled home in which to grow up. I thank the friends I found in Moscow who made my time at the University of Idaho immeasurably richer and shared with me the joys and sorrows of the grad school experience. I will forever treasure the memories and friendships made through late evenings at coffee shops and early mornings adventuring in the mountains. Finally, I would like to recognize the many incredible firefighters I have worked with who have inspired me to be a "student of fire." I would especially like to acknowledge the leadership and crewmembers of both Skyway Wildland Fire Module and Kings Peak Wildland Fire Module for their understanding and support over the past three years as I rushed between school and fire season. Ultimately, it is my hope that this research would contribute towards the safety and effectiveness of those who engage in wildland fire management.

Table of Contents

Authorization to Submit Thesisii
Abstractiii
Acknowledgementsiv
Dedicationv
Table of Contents
List of Figures vii
CHAPTER ONE: Exploring Adoption Success of the Wildland Fire Decision Support System 1
1: Introduction
2: Literature Review
Wildland Fire Science and Technology Transfer through Decision Support Systems
Evaluating DSS Success
3: Methods and Analysis
Methods12
Analysis14
4: Results 15
Primary Perspectives Surrounding WFDSS Utility15
Challenges to WFDSS Use 17
Existing Training and Training Preferences
5: Discussion
Summary of Findings
WFDSS and Links to Existing DSS Theory
Future Direction
Conclusion
6: References
APPENDIX A: Interview Protocol

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Intended WFDSS decision-making process	5
Figure 1.2. WFDSS and risk-informed decision making, adapted from Taber et al. 2013	7
Figure 1.3. Linkage of factors influencing perceptions of WFDSS satisfaction and benefit	
righter 1.5. Entrage of factors influencing perceptions of wrights satisfaction and benefit	25

CHAPTER ONE: Exploring Adoption Success of the Wildland Fire Decision Support System

1: Introduction

Wildland fire management is one of the most challenging issues that land management agencies face (Noonan-Wright et al. 2011, Zimmerman 2011). Climate change, fuel accumulation stemming from historical fire exclusion, and the expansion of human development into or interspersed with wildland vegetation (the Wildland Urban Interface) have all contributed to longer fire seasons and more large severe fires that pose increasing threats to a range of ecological and socio-economic values (e.g. endangered wildlife habitat, residences and infrastructure, air quality) (Brown et al. 2004, Bruins et al. 2010, Dennison et al. 2014, Mell et al. 2010, Schoennagel et al. 2004, Thompson et al. 2012, Westerling 2016, Morton et al. 2003). Average annual costs for federal fire management have increased significantly since 2000 while funding for fire management agencies and the associated number of firefighting resources have remained relatively unchanged (GAO 2007, Pence and Zimmerman 2011). As a result, fire managers are under increasing pressure to make timely and complex fire management decisions surrounding public protection, firefighter safety, and land management objectives in an environment characterized by incomplete information, resource scarcity, and an emphasis on reducing firefighting spending (Noonan-Wright et al. 2011).

Federal wildland fire policy identifies risk management as a key element of wildland fire decision making and states that "risks and uncertainties relating to fire management activities must be understood, analyzed, communicated, and managed" (USDI, USDA 1995 pg. 4). Risk-informed decision making for wildland fire incidents focuses on selecting economically appropriate fire response strategies based on the identification and assessment of risks to public and firefighter safety as well as positive or negative fire impacts to resource values (Calkin et al. 2011). Prior to 2009, federal wildland fire management agencies (e.g., U.S. Forest Service, Bureau of Land Management, National Park Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and Bureau of Indian Affairs) utilized numerous fire management decision support systems (FMDSS) and stand-alone fire behavior modeling programs to assist managers with developing risk-informed fire management decisions. Examples of FDMSS used by federal agencies during this time period include the Wildland Fire Situation Analysis (WFSA), the Wildland Fire Implementation Plan (WFIP), the Long Term Implementation Plan (LTIP), and the Strategic Implementation Plan (SIP), while standalone fire

behavior modeling programs include BehavePlus, FlamMap, FARSITE, and FSIM (Noonan-Wright et al. 2011, Pacheco et al. 2015).

Federal agencies adopted the Wildland Fire Decision Support System (WFDSS) in 2009 as a streamlined decision support and documentation tool applicable to all wildland fire events at all scales (NWCG 2009, Noonan-Wright et al. 2011). The adoption of WFDSS stemmed from updated federal fire policy guidance that recognized the inefficiency surrounding the use of multiple FMDSS and mandated that federal wildland fire management agencies use a single decision support process that would "provide situational assessment, analyze hazards and risk, define implementation actions, and document decisions and rationale for those decisions" (USDI, USDA 2009 pg. 7).

Current policy requires that federal firefighting agencies publish WFDSS decisions for fires that escape initial attack, exceed initial response, or are being managed for both protection of valuesat-risk and resource benefit objectives (NIFC 2017). However, some internal reviews have questioned whether fire managers are using WFDSS to its full potential (USDI 2017, WFMRDA 2015). For instance, the Wildland Fire Management Research, Development and Application Program (RDA) who oversees the development and use of WFDSS produced a 2014 review of published incident decisions which stated that "most incident objectives are written generally enough that they could apply to any fire in the country" (WFMRDA 2015 pg. 1). Their review concluded that the existing level of use by managers make it difficult to prioritize objectives and communicate the rationale behind incident decisions (WFMRDA 2015). A U.S Department of Interior report following the Chimney Tops 2 fire in 2016 indicated that "Decision support tools appeared to play a limited role in supporting the risk management decisions" and cited "technical and cultural barriers" to the use of WFDSS in informing and documenting decision making during the incident (USDI 2017 pg. 106). Despite these internal findings, very few systematic research efforts have explored fire manager use of WFDSS for risk-informed decision making.

This research presented here addresses the lack of research on WFDSS adoption by exploring perceptions of satisfaction, benefit and use among WFDSS users in the Pacific Northwest, USA. We also explore managers' perspectives about existing or future training and support surrounding WFDSS. We conducted interviews with a stratified sample of 42 WFDSS users with different WFDSS user roles and responsibilities in an attempt to better understand to what extent WFDSS supports the risk-informed decision-making needs of fire managers. Results of this study could help inform future FMDSS development by better targeting FMDSS development efforts towards the needs and concerns that fire managers have involving the use of FMDSS in fire management decision making. Additionally, this study could help improve future FMDSS implementation efforts by providing insight into the factors that contribute to FMDSS adoption success.

2: Literature Review

Wildland Fire Science and Technology Transfer through Decision Support Systems

Federal wildland fire policy mandates the use of "best available science" in wildland fire management and decision making (USDI, USDA 2009, WFEC 2014). The USFS 2012 Planning Rule and the USFS Land Management Planning Handbook provide limited clarification defining best available science as that which is "accurate, reliable, and relevant" and "currently available in a form useful... without further data collection, modification or validation" (USDA 2012 pg. 21261, USDA 2013 pg. 5). However, the abundance of existing scientific information, along with the contradictory results and uncertainties inherent in research findings contribute to considerable ambiguity and present difficulties for fire managers who must attempt to obtain and evaluate what constitutes best available science while making complex decisions within highly compressed time frames (Wright 2010). Existing research indicates that new science findings are often most useful when they are delivered to fire professionals in the form of a tool that addresses a specific management issue, such as a fire behavior model or spatial dataset (Barbour 2007).

A decision support system (DSS) aggregates scientific findings such as datasets and models into an interactive tool that supports management decision making (Mann and Watson 1984). Existing literature describes numerous fire management decision support systems (FMDSS) that synthesize wildland fire science results such as spatial data, fire behavior modeling programs and risk analysis frameworks into interactive decision support applications addressing various aspects of fire management decision making (e.g. fuel management, strategic and tactical fire suppression resource management, initial attack response, large fire management) (O'Conner 2016, Martell 2015, Mavsar et al. 2013, Minas et al. 2012, Pacheco et al. 2015, Sakellariou et al. 2017). WFDSS is an example of widely used FMDSS among federal agencies in the United States. WFDSS is a web-based application that synthesizes geospatial data, fire behavior model outputs, risk analysis frameworks, and cost evaluation tools. It is intended to help fire managers such as Line Officers (e.g. Forest Supervisors and District Rangers), natural resource specialists, and fire specialists to develop strategic fire management direction and communicate that direction to the Incident Commander (IC) or Incident Management Team (IMT). The direction given in a WFDSS decision outlines the strategic fire management approach (e.g. suppression, contain / confine, point protection, monitor) that best mitigates risk and achieves land management objectives (e.g. allowing fire to burn where beneficial, protecting values such as residences, infrastructure, threatened / endangered species habitat, cultural resources) given existing constraints (e.g. expected weather / fire behavior, availability of firefighting resources) (Noonan-Wright et al. 2011, USGS 2019).

Line Officers are USFS employees whose supervisory line of command runs directly back to the Chief of the Forest Service (USDA 2005). Among other duties, Line Officers have the responsibility for overseeing fire management and the authority for fire management decision making. They often rely heavily on the input and advice of their subordinate staff, including natural resource specialists (e.g. foresters, wildlife biologists, hydrologists, botanists, archaeologists, recreation managers etc.) and fire specialists (e.g. fire management officers, fuel / prescribed fire specialists, fire planners etc.) to assist them with fire management decision making (WFMRDA 2018).

Line Officers delegate authority to carry out the strategic direction in WFDSS to the Incident Commander (IC), who has responsibility for selecting firefighting strategies and tactics in order to implement that direction. ICs and their subordinates fill the various Incident Command System (ICS) functions of command, operations, planning, logistics, and finance/administration—they are collectively referred to as the Incident Management Team (IMT). The IC and/or the IMT for a given fire event may be ad-hoc depending on the scale and complexity of an incident,, with members drawn from local fire and resource specialists, or may be a national team with standing rosters of highly qualified and experienced personnel who are capable of managing the largest and most complex of wildfire incidents.

A typical WFDSS decision consists of a multi-page long PDF document with maps, figures, tables, and supporting text that at a minimum must contain: 1) a planning area; 2) a relative risk assessment; 3) an organization assessment; 4) a decision approver; 5) a strategic objective; 6) an action item; 7) an estimated final cost; 8) a decision rationale. See Figure 1.1 for a visual representation of the mandatory components of a WFDSS decision as well as the ideal WFDSS decision development and implementation workflow.

The planning area is the geographical representation of the area being considered in the decision. When the planning area is set, WFDSS auto-populates the decision document with the strategic objectives found within the planning area, as well as the known values within the planning area. As such, the planning area defines what existing strategic fire management or land management objectives are considered in the decision document, as well as what known values are reflected in subsequent risk assessments. A relative risk assessment provides a qualitative visualization of the importance of various values on the landscape, the probability that fire will impact those values, and the magnitude of potential risk the fire poses to those values. The organization assessment combines the relative risk assessment with considerations of implementation difficulty (e.g. fire duration, firefighter exposure, availability of resources) and socio-political influences (e.g. jurisdictions involved, extent of agreement among cooperators, media interest) to produce a recommended incident

management level as well as a supporting bar chart that helps inform what level of incident management is needed. The decision approver implicates individuals (e.g. Line Officers and their representatives) who have the authority to approve the final WFDSS decision. WFDSS decisions must contain at least one strategic objective (e.g. suppress fire at smallest size, manage fire for resource benefit), and more often contain multiple strategic objectives. Strategic objectives express overarching guidance for fire management based on the direction found in existing fire management or land and resource management plans. Decisions also require at least one action item that describes how the strategic objectives will be achieved, for instance, if a fire had a strategic objective of "Allow fire to play a natural role in Wilderness Areas as nearly as possible," an action item might be "Use existing trail systems, vegetation changes and natural barriers where feasible to keep fire within the Wilderness Area." The aggregation of action items in WFDSS is referred to as the course of action, and describes how the fire will be managed to meet objectives while mitigating risk. The estimated final cost enumerates the expected cost of implementing the course of action. Finally, a WFDSS decision must include a decision rationale drafted by the Line Officer that articulates why the previously described course of action was selected (USGS 2019).



Figure 1.1. Intended WFDSS decision-making process

Line Officers (assisted and advised by their resource and fire staff) bear responsibility for developing a WFDSS decision that at a minimum includes the mandatory components listed. The strategic management direction developed in WFDSS is reflected in the Delegation of Authority letter and is implemented by the Incident Commander (IC) / Incident Management Team (IMT).

WFDSS is based on the principles of risk-informed decision making, which helps managers develop decisions that consider the probability of beneficial and detrimental fire impacts to values on the landscape (e.g. residences, infrastructure, land management objectives, air and water quality) in order to provide broad strategic fire management direction (Noonan-Wright et al. 2011). Riskinformed decision making involves analysis and deliberation that follows a cycle of: (1) establishing situational awareness; (2) analyzing risk; (3) controlling risk; (4) making a decision; (5) implementing the decision; and (6) evaluating the decision (Taber et al. 2013). Figure 1.2 provides a visual representation of this process, and shows how some WFDSS elements support the various stages of risk-informed decision making. WFDSS helps fire managers gain situational awareness by aggregating basic information (e.g. fire name, size, cause, jurisdiction), spatial data (e.g. fire perimeter, fire behavior model outputs, location of values at risk), and management objectives (e.g. strategic objectives pre-identified in existing management plans, or those developed specifically for the incident). Risk assessment tools in WFDSS (e.g. (relative risk assessment, rapid assessment of values at risk) help decision makers analyze risk by identifying the values at risk, the extent of the fire related hazard, and the probability of the fire hazard impacting values. It assists fire managers with risk control through cost estimators and a systematic process for describing how managers will meet objectives while mitigating identified risks and managing financial costs. Fire managers can use outputs from WFDSS (e.g. course of action, rationale document) to support decision implementation by including these outputs in the Delegation of Authority, the legal document that provides direction to Incident Commanders (IC) and Incident Management Teams (IMT). WFDSS decisions are archived, making WFDSS the official database of record for fire management decision making. Finally, WFDSS prompts fire managers to consider periodic assessments of decisions in order to facilitate decision evaluation (Taber et al. 2013).



Figure 1.2. WFDSS and risk-informed decision making, adapted from Taber et al. 2013 Risk-informed decision making follows a cycle of: (1) establishing situational awareness; (2) analyzing risk; (3) controlling risk; (4) making a decision; (5) implementing the decision; and (6) evaluating the decision. Various elements within WFDSS support the different stages of the risk-informed decision-making cycle.

Despite the proliferation of FMDSSs such as WFDSS, researchers have observed that their use by fire managers has been limited. Some perceive a growing disconnect between the FMDSSs currently available and the decision support needs of fire managers, although it is not clear what specific needs are not being met (Martell 2011, Pacheco 2015). The bulk of existing FMDSS literature introduces new FMDSSs, presents underlying theoretical approaches used by various models, or discusses challenges associated with accurately representing the many conflicting objectives, complexities, and uncertainties that surround fire management decision making (Kalabokidis et al. 2002, Martell 2015, Mavsar et al. 2013, Miller and Ager 2013, Minas et al. 2012, Rachaniotis and Pappis 2006, Sakellariou et al. 2017, Thompson and Calkin 2011, Thompson et al. 2017). While much of the FMDSS literature asserts that improved decision-making outcomes either have resulted or will result from using FMDSS, very little existing work focuses on the substantiation or evaluation of these claims as a primary study objective. Consequently, there is considerable opportunity to apply results from DSS implementation literature developed in other disciplines including decision sciences and business toward the evaluation of FMDSSs (Pacheco 2015).

Accordingly, we next review salient lessons from existing science on DSS development, adoption and evaluation.

Evaluating DSS Success

Evaluating DSS adoption presents a challenge because the benefits of improved decisions stemming from DSS use are often intangible and difficult to measure directly (Barki and Huff 1990, Bokari 2005, Galletta and Lederer 1989). Existing DSS implementation research widely accepts qualitative or quantitative metrics for system usage, user satisfaction, and perceived benefits as indicators of success because those metrics are believed to indicate that the application fulfills the decision-making needs of users (Barki and Huff 1990, Bokari 2005, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Guimaraes et al. 1992, Ives et al. 1980, Lucas 1987). System usage often is considered the least reliable metric of success when DSS use is mandatory, as is the case with WFDSS. This is because decision makers may be required to use the DSS despite experiencing no benefit to their decision making (Bokkari 2005).

Existing theory surrounding DSS development and use suggest three primary factors that contribute to DSS success: (1) DSS user characteristics; (2) characteristics of the DSS; and (3) the implementation process by which the DSS was introduced to potential users. These three factors are important for success primarily because they shape user sense of satisfaction and perceived benefits towards a DSS (Barki and Huff 1990, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Guimaraes et al. 1992). Considering or evaluating the above characteristics can help explain users' satisfaction or perceived benefits for a DSS or help determine the success of the application (Barki and Huff 1990, Bailey and Pearson 1983, Ives et al. 1983, Mahmood and Sniezek 1989, Zviran and Erlich 2003).

DSS theory places user characteristics that influence perceptions of DSS benefit and satisfaction into three primary categories: (1) cognitive style; (2) personality, and (3) demographic variables (Zmud 1979, Alavi and Joachimsthaler 1992). Cognitive style refers to the diverse ways that individuals process information, solve problems, and make decisions (Goldstein and Blackman 1978, Huysman 1970). In existing DSS research, cognitive style often pertains to whether the user employs an analytical or heuristic decision-making approach (Barki and Huff 1990, Green and Hughes 1986). Analytical decision makers prefer quantitative data, linear step-by-step processes, and models. Heuristic decision makers rely on experience, intuition and trial-and-error (Alavi and Joachimsthaler 1992). Select research suggests greater DSS adoption among analytical decision makers (Davis and Olson 1985, Lu et al. 2001, Mysiak et al. 2003, Zmud 1979), although inherent difficulties with defining and measuring cognitive style have led to varying interpretations of this result (Alavi and

Joachimsthaler 1992, Doktor and Hamilton 1973, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Green and Hughes 1986, Lu et al. 2001, Mysiak et al. 2003, Zmud 1979).

Personality traits are frequently described as characteristics that help an individual adjust to the people, events and situations that they encounter (Alavi and Joahimsthaler 1992, Zmud 1979). Personality traits can influence user beliefs and attitudes towards a DSS, which can in turn influence their satisfaction with a DSS (Alavi and Joachimsthaler 1992, Barki and Huff 1990, Davis et al. 1989, Liang 1986, Lucas 1978, Zmud 1979). For instance, some existing research indicates that individuals who exhibit high degrees of extroversion and willingness to change are more likely to perceive benefit in using a DSS and consequently contribute to adoption success. On the other hand, individuals who are more willing to accept risk or who assert their opinions as fact regardless of other evidence or perspectives (i.e. dogmatic) are less likely to perceive benefits resulting from DSS use, which will lower application success (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992, Barki and Huff 1990, Zmud 1979). However, relatively few research studies have focused explicitly on the relationship between personality traits and DSS success, and some argue that personality characteristics likely have only a small effect on DSS success. (Alavi and Joachimsthaler 1992). Demographic factors such as age, gender, and education may also influence DSS adoption because they can influence user willingness to use or interest in learning new applications such as DSSs (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992, Lucas 1978, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Zmud 1979). For instance, select research indicates that DSS success improves among younger and more educated users (Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Lucas 1978, Zinkhan et al. 1987). However, insufficient research examining demographic factors prevents drawing strong conclusions about their role in DSS success (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992).

Existing findings from DSS implementation research indicate that the characteristics of the DSS also contribute to its success, including the data, models, analytical tools, processes and user interface of the DSS. The quality and usefulness of outputs associated with a DSS are another frequently mentioned characteristic influencing adoption success (Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Lucas 1975). A poorly designed DSS user interface may negatively impact user satisfaction and perceived benefits by decreasing user's ability to use the program or obtain information that improves decision making (Barki and Huff 1990, Lucas 1978).

User satisfaction and perceived benefits are believed to increase when users perceive DSS outputs as accurate and relevant to the problem being considered. Additionally, user satisfaction and perceived benefits are thought to increase when the design of the user interface contributes to ease of use and the when outputs are delivered in a timely manner (Bailey and Pearson 1983, Barkhi and Huff 1990, Dulcic et al. 2012, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Guimaraes et al. 1992, Loucks 1995, Mysiak et al. 2005). Finally, DSS research indicates that user satisfaction and perceived benefit increase when

users observe positive changes to decision making resulting from the outputs of the DSS (Bailey and Pearson 1983). Some FMDSS research speaks to the importance of DSS characteristics by warning against developing FMDSS that are excessively complex or require too much time for fire managers to use effectively (Pacheco 2015, Thompson and Calkin 2011). However, there are few efforts to actually assess these outcomes among populations of end users for FMDSS programs.

Finally, lessons from existing DSS research indicate that the form or structure of implementation processes introducing DSSs to potential users are an important factor influencing user satisfaction and perceived benefit associated with DSS success. Many researchers conclude that actively involving users in the DSS development, support from high-level management, and user training are critical to successful implementation (Barkhi and Huff 1990, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Guimares et al. 1992, Loucks 1995). Alavi and Joachimstaler (1992) suggest that user involvement and user training are more influential to the success of a DSS than users' cognitive or personality characteristics. User involvement in the initial or ongoing development of a DSS can foster a sense of ownership that increases potential use, superseding personality traits associated with preconceptions. Direct involvement in DSS development or improvement can increase user satisfaction with the DSS and the importance a decision maker associates with the application (King and Rodriquez 1981, Zinkhan et al. 1987). Similarly, user training can help explain why the DSS is important or necessary and demonstrate how it can be used to improve decision making. Such opportunities can alleviate preexisting user notions about the DSS and increase perceptions of satisfaction and benefit (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992). Loucks (1995) considered training more important than the "user-friendliness" of a DSS, pointing out that as DSSs evolve and become easier to use, they often also increase in complexity which requires that users have additional training in order to develop proficiency with the DSS. Lack of training significantly contributes to user dissatisfaction (Guimares et al. 1992, Fuerst and Cheney 1982, Sanders and Courtney 1985). Finally, high-level management support can promote favorable attitudes towards the use of a DSS, as subordinates are likely to follow the lead of supervisors and senior managers who actively use a DSS (Lucas 1978, Sanders and Courtney 1985).

The few published efforts discussing FMDSS success corroborate existing lessons from broader DSS literature and introduce other considerations. Martell (2011) reflected on his long-term experience with FMDSSs to conclude that fire manager adoption of FMDSS increases when: 1) FMDSS researchers examine issues that fire managers indicate are important decision-making needs; 2) FMDSS researchers work closely with fire managers and technical specialists throughout the development of the FMDSS; 3) FMDSS researchers have practical experience in fire management as well as DSS development, and 4) FMDSS researchers train interested individuals to work for the organization utilizing the FMDSS and who can continue to invest in its implementation. Similarly, Pacheco et al. (2015) cited insufficient fire manager involvement in the design and implementation of a FMDSS as one reason for the lack of FMDSS adoption. Technological improvements to data acquisition or analysis should only compliment—and never replace—the value of experience and intuition or the role of a fire manager as the ultimate decision maker (Mavsar et al. 2013, Martell 1982, Pacheco 2015).

In summary, existing literature provides a strong consensus for the need to evaluate DSS adoption, and demonstrates that considerable thought has been given to the problem of how to evaluate DSSs. Much of the literature surrounding DSS adoption centers on measures of perceived user satisfaction and benefit. Within the field of wildland fire management, a concerted effort has been made to develop FMDSS for the purpose of improving various aspects of fire management decision making. However, despite concerns that FMDSS adoption is lacking, no scientific effort has been made towards evaluating FMDSS adoption by fire managers. This research begins to address the large gap that exists in current understanding of FMDSS adoption success. Specifically, it applies findings from DSS implementation literature to the field of FMDSS. DSS implementation literature holds that DSS adoption success is influenced by some characteristics that describe DSS users as well as several characteristics that describe DSS design and function. Existing research presents varying results as to the relative importance of these characteristics to DSS adoption success. However, DSS implementation literature consistently finds that elements of the implementation process surrounding a DSS strongly influences DSS adoption success. Furthermore, the abundance and consistency of research regarding the importance of training for DSS indicates that this implementation characteristic is among the most critical to DSS adoption success. This study examines the Wildland Fire Decision Support System as an example of an FMDSS facilitating wildland fire science and technology transfer. We use existing theory surrounding DSS adoption success to explore factors that have contributed to or hindered WFDSS adoption. Accordingly, the following research questions guide our effort:

- 1) What benefits do fire managers attribute to WFDSS?
- 2) How satisfied are users with the WFDSS application?
- 3) What makes effective training for WFDSS?

3: Methods and Analysis

Methods

We used an inductive, qualitative approach to explore perceptions of satisfaction and benefit and training for WFDSS among a sample of users. Inductive research allows findings to emerge from the data during the course of the inquiry and does not involve testing of pre-defined deductive hypothesis. We selected an inductive approach because it is best suited for exploratory research characterized by a lack of past findings, in our case the lack of previous studies focusing on FMDSS adoption success (Strauss and Corbin 1990). A qualitative approach also is appropriate for this effort because our intent was to allow users the opportunity to describe in-depth their perceptions surrounding WFDSS, and because a qualitative approach allows new information to emerge through exploration of novel themes arising from our data (Bryman 2012, Thomas 2006).

We defined our sample population as USFS WFDSS users in the Northwest Geographic Area (NWCC), as well as USFS employees who took the 2017 S-495 Geospatial Fire Analysis class. We chose the USFS because it is the largest and most influential of the federal agencies that are mandated to use WFDSS in wildland fire management, and thus offered the largest population of WFDSS users from which to select interviewees. Selecting a single federal agency for this exploratory research also allowed us to control for potential differences in WFDSS use and training associated with variability in policy across agencies. Likewise, we chose to focus on a specific region because support and administrative functions for WFDSS are often conducted at the Geographic Area (GA) level following the delineations defined by the National Interagency Coordination Center (NICC). Selecting one area for our sample frame provides a logical starting point for exploring end user perspectives operating within existing agency dynamics. We selected the NWCC for study because it has a long history of large fire management requiring complex decision making and because RDA staff indicated that fire managers in this region were likely to be relatively familiar with WFDSS. Furthermore, the NWCC is similar to other western GAs in that it has a continuous, approximately three-month-long fire season during the summer and a highly structured federal fire management organization. These factors make the NWCC an ideal location from which to obtain substantial information that may be relevant to other places in the US. S-495 Geospatial Fire Analysis is an advanced class that teaches students how to use the fire behavior models within WFDSS. We included these students in order to capture the views of WFDSS users who had attended an advanced formal training concerning WFDSS.

We employed a stratified random sampling approach of WFDSS users to ensure representation of various perspectives that may be associated with the FMDSS. More specifically, we segmented WFDSS users in the NWCC by the various roles assigned to them which define their functions and privileges within the system. We randomly sampled within each strata in order to collect data from a wide cross section of WFDSS users with varying experiences with the program. The sampling process began by obtaining a list of USFS WFDSS from the RDA. We then separated these potential study participants into groups based on their WFDSS user role. The user was assigned the role with the highest level of permissions granted in instances where a user had multiple roles. The five resulting groups (or "strata") were: dispatcher, viewer, author/data manager, fire behavior specialist and Geographic Area editor. We added an additional strata consisting of USFS employees who had attended the 2017 S-495 Geospatial Fire Analysis class. We used the Microsoft Excel RAND function to randomly assign every user within each strata a unique identifier number, and then sorted these identifiers from lowest to highest. We contacted potential interviewees in each strata by starting with the lowest identifier number and progressing sequentially higher. This approach of

We contacted all potential study participants multiple times via email and phone in order to maximize participation. We sent emails inviting potential interviewees to participate and then called those who did not respond to the email within 7-10 days. We repeated the cycle of emails and phone calls after another 7-10 day period of non-response before removing individuals who did not respond from consideration. We continued to contact potential interviewees and conduct interviews until theoretical saturation—the point at which we heard the same answers from interviewees from each of the strata and no new information was forthcoming (Morse 1995). Researchers contacted 106 WFDSS users at least once for this research, and interviewed 42. Interviews lasted between 10 and 80 minutes, with an average of 45 minutes. All interviews were audio recorded, and subsequently transcribed word-for-word for the coding described below.

We created a semi-structured interview protocol designed to help guide interviews. A semistructured interview protocol is a series of open-ended questions intended to prompt a dialogue between the interviewee and the interviewer. Semi-structured approaches to interviewing allow researchers the flexibility to ask additional questions to further explore initial responses implicated by the interviewee (Bryman 2012). Questions covered in the protocol were designed to reflect the range of factors that existing literature indicates are potential influences on DSS success. The protocol included questions that asked about the interviewee's experience and confidence with using WFDSS, how they use WFDSS as a part of their job, the components of WFDSS they found useful, the utility of WFDSS in fire decision making, and their suggestions for how WFDSS could be changed to better meet their needs. Subsequent questions were intended to better understand the perceptions of satisfaction and benefit that WFDSS users have towards the program or describe the characteristics of WFDSS that contribute to those perceptions. Additionally, our protocol included questions exploring how respondents learned to use WFDSS, existing training opportunities and support networks, and suggestions for improving future training. Finally, our interview protocol concluded with questions about respondents day-to-day job duties, their federal paygrade level, and their background and qualifications in fire management. We included these questions to better understand the characteristics of WFDSS users that might influence adoption success.

Analysis

Our data analysis followed qualitative data analysis processes of analytic induction and thematic analysis. Analytic induction is an approach for systematically evaluating similarities and differences in participant responses in order to develop themes and relationships between concepts emerging from within the data (Gomm 2009, Ryan and Bernard 2000, Aronson 1994 Boyatzis 1998). Thematic analysis uses a coding process to discover patterns within data in order to develop emerging themes (Aronson 1994 Boyatzis 1998). Our data analysis involved three rounds of successively restricting transcript coding using the NVivo software for qualitative data analysis. Transcribed interviews were first coded to generate a comprehensive list of topics discussed during the interview process, what often is called topic coding in existing methodological literature. A second round of "descriptive coding" focused on summarizing patterns in interviewee response for each topic or drawing connections among them (Richards 2014). Finally, a third round of what is frequently called "analytic coding" documented patterns within descriptive themes to articulate overarching connections between respondents' experience with WFDSS or associated trainings and to explore the reasons behind those outcomes (Ryan and Bernard 2000). Each round of coding entailed a separate reading and documentation of all data collected in the research. Two researchers coded a portion of the data separately at each stage of the process and compared their initial findings in an effort to establish intercoder reliability (Bryman 2012). They addressed any inconsistencies in their findings and modified the definitions or procedures used in the coding process to ensure that replication of the coding process by other researchers would find similar conclusions. Lastly, both researchers examined the transcripts and identified quotations that best represented the final themes.

4: Results

Primary Perspectives Surrounding WFDSS Utility

Interviewees indicated that they appreciated the overall intent of WFDSS as a decision support tool that facilitates risk-informed decision making and establishes an official database of record for documenting fire management decisions. However, they noted that numerous challenges complicate the use of WFDSS and frequently prevent managers from fully realizing its intended purpose. Interviewees indicated that they used WFDSS primarily to document decisions and justify actions already taken rather than as an analytical or deliberative tool that informed their decision making. Similarly, participants described how they usually had a predetermined idea of what fire management decision needed to be made, and that going through the decision development process in WFDSS usually did not significantly change their predetermined idea. They described developing fire management decisions primarily through conversations with other managers. As one interviewee described:

I guess my opinion, it seems like we use the system more for documenting the decision that we know we want to make already, [rather than] utilizing the system to truly inform a decision... we use it to just basically document the decision we've already come to.

We describe the primary influences on the use of WFDSS as a documentation tool in the section titled "Challenges to WFDSS use."

Interviewees described that on-the-ground actions are sometimes inconsistent with the decisions documented in WFDSS. These disconnects make it difficult for WFDSS users to realize its intended purpose of facilitating analysis and deliberation that results in a risk-informed decision providing direction to the Incident Commander (IC) or Incident Management Team (IMT). Interviewees explained that the direction given in WFDSS is not always carried out, and described several ways this disconnect or conflict could occur. Sometimes disconnects occur because of a communication breakdown, for instance when the Line Officer does not communicate the WFDSS decision to the IMT through the Delegation of Authority letter or elsewhere in the briefing packet. Other times the IMT disregards the direction given them from the WFDSS decision. Changes in the fire situation (e.g. wind shift, fire behavior) or political pressures also contributed to actions that are inconsistent with the direction given in WFDSS. Participants indicated that experiencing disconnects between WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions decreases their perceived utility for the program. As one fire manager described:

My concern often is that there's typically a significant disconnect between the delegation of authority and the decisions that are documented in WFDSS. We've struggled vitally to try to bring those together better... We can have some long duration incidents...having [the WFDSS decision] tied to not only the delegation, but what we're actually doing, and then getting the teams to connect with that as well, it's been a real struggle.

Despite inconsistencies between documentation and actions, interviewees expressed an overall appreciation for the role that WFDSS plays in documenting, validating, and justifying fire management decisions. That appreciation stemmed from the fact that WFDSS allows mangers to tell a more complete story of why they made the decisions they did based on information that they had at the time. Participants explained that fire management decisions are often scrutinized in hindsight, and that using WFDSS to document the logic associated with particular decisions provides an official database of record that helps them justify or articulate their decision making. Participants indicated that they also used WFDSS as a validation tool to fact check their decision and to make sure that they had considered the full breadth of values at risk or land management priorities present in the fire situation. One interviewee described the usefulness of WFDSS as such:

But, as you go through that process, as you go through there, it's validation that you haven't missed something. There is a lot of utility in that I think. Just going through the process to be sure you don't miss something. There are occasions where you're like, 'oh yeah, I didn't think about that.' There's a value at risk I didn't think of or there's a management area that I didn't know about. That can certainly alter your strategy and your approach... but I think generally, we kind of know what we're gonna do. WFDSS has been a place to validate that and document it.

Interviewees described finding value in the process of interaction and deliberation facilitated by WFDSS. They felt that WFDSS provides a consistent setting or framework that facilitates the collaborative reasoning and decision making among a range of land management and firefighting professionals. For example, participants described WFDSS as especially beneficial when facing complex decision making on multi-jurisdictional fires with numerous stakeholders. They recounted fires during which Line Officers, fire managers, and natural resource specialists gathered in one room, projected WFDSS onto a screen, and worked through the decision development process in a collaborative manner in order to come to an effective management strategy that everyone could agree to. One participant described that using WFDSS as a decision-making framework enhances the ability for stakeholders outside the Forest Service, such as state land or fire management agencies, local law enforcement and fire departments, and elected officials to provide their input. As one respondent summarized:

You know, overall, I find the usefulness of WFDSS to be in guiding a conversation, is how I like to see it. We're guiding a conversation with the right people in the room to move through it. The value's more in the process or the journey than clicking these boxes and trying to get it done as quick as you can, type of thing.

Interviewees described the aggregation of data within WFDSS as a particularly valuable element supporting fire management decision making. They felt that the opportunity to display relevant information though WFDSS in a geographical or spatial context helps enhance situational awareness of the factors that influence risk-informed decision making. Particularly important information described by participants includes the location of the fire, values at risk such as residences or infrastructure, land management priorities (e.g. threatened or endangered species habitat), objectives from land or fire management plans, management action points that trigger predetermined actions (e.g. evacuations, firing operations), and fire behavior model outputs indicating where the fire may spread. Gathering relevant data into a single application and displaying it spatially allows managers to rapidly access and process information for developing objectives and determining a strategy for managing a fire. As one interviewee put it:

Well, I think part of it that is useful is, it does walk you through it step-by-step as far as describing, the piece of ground as far as values at risk. It walks you through taking a look at the big picture, here's the fire, here's what's around it, here's the current weather conditions and all these factors that paint the bigger picture of that incident. I think it does a good job with that, just give the overall view of things.

Challenges to WFDSS Use

Interviewees indicated that several inter-related factors including lack of time, the complexity of the WFDSS program, lack of proficient WFDSS users, and the high experience level of fire managers challenge the use of WFDSS as it is intended. These factors contribute to managers using WFDSS primarily for documentation rather than for facilitating risk-informed decision making and to disconnects between WFDSS and on-the-ground actions.

Interviewees described lack of time as a primary reason for WFDSS becoming a documentation exercise and for disconnects between WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions. They explained that the operational tempo of fire frequently exceeds the capacity of managers to produce a WFDSS decision. In these cases, the time required to prepare a quality WFDSS decision that is supported by thoughtful analysis is often better spent developing a strategy through dialogue with the IC or IMT and verbally communicating intent. Interviewees indicated that direct dialogue with the IC or IMT is particularly important during rapidly developing urban interface fires or fires transitioning from local incident management to national Type 1 or 2 incident management. Frequently, more pressing concerns such as coordinating evacuations or preparing to in-brief an IMT take precedence over completing WFDSS. In the aforementioned situations, WFDSS decisions are completed after the fact, and largely serve to document the actions that have already occurred.

Interviewees also cited the timeframe required to develop a WFDSS decision as a contributing factor to conflict between management actions and the WFDSS decision. Higher priorities sometimes prevent WFDSS decisions from being completed in time to be added to the Delegation of Authority letter and IMT briefing packet, which sometimes leads to inconsistencies between the direction given to an incoming IMT and that direction documented later in WFDSS. Similarly, participants explained that the time it takes to update a WFDSS decision frequently contributes to inconsistencies between WFDSS direction and on-the-ground actions. Rapid changes in situational factors such as weather conditions or fire behavior influence rapid shifts in strategy that may differ from those originally documented in WFDSS. One interviewee described it this way:

It's just a limitation of the program itself, I hope it doesn't come across as a criticism. But these incidents are often so rapidly evolving, and by the time you may complete a WFDSS, a half a burning or a full burning period has taken place and conditions have evolved. That's a reality.

Interviewees indicated that the complexity of WFDSS is a major challenge that limits the availability of skilled WFDSS users and contributes to the significant amount of time needed to produce a decision, which results in manager use of WFDSS primarily for documentation. Several interviewees compared their experiences using WFDSS to that of using GIS software in that the program requires a high level of skill and that it is constantly evolving. The high level of skill needed to run WFDSS increases the difficulty of using the system and requires the availability of proficient Authors in order to develop decisions in a timely manner. The Author user role is largely responsible for navigating the program, facilitating discussion, and drafting much of the WFDSS decision

content. Participants also indicated that WFDSS proficiency is a highly perishable skillset, and that most users do not spend enough time with the program to develop familiarity with its many components. Proficiency with WFDSS often is related to how frequently an individual uses WFDSS as a part of their daily job, or the level of fire activity experienced by a home unit. Units with more fire activity are more likely to have individuals who are proficient with WFDSS due to its frequent use, while units with less fire activity use the program less frequently, and thus might lack individuals with strong WFDSS skills. Few interviewees believed that they used WFDSS regularly enough to develop true expertise with the program. As one experienced WFDSS user explained:

The decision side of WFDSS is what is clunky and not intuitive, and very frustrating. Because it's not intuitive and complex, and because people aren't always in there, you know, they don't have that proficiency in there every single week or every single month, it's difficult for people. So it's frustrating to them. What happens is it takes so long to get a good WFDSS out that it's failing in its progress. It just becomes a documentation tool.

One of the primary challenges of using WFDSS as described by participants concerned bringing the right people together at the right time to produce a WFDSS decision in a timely manner. Interviewees described conflicting job duty priorities and a lack of interest from non-fire program areas as barriers to developing and maintaining a cadre of experienced WFDSS Authors. Many "WFDSS experts" are fire staff who usually have operational responsibilities that prevent them from being able to coordinate the WFDSS effort. On the other hand, resource specialists often possess skillsets such as database management, GIS, and technical writing that make them good "WFDSS experts," but they are frequently unavailable to assist with WFDSS on weekends, after hours or because they have their own workload to accomplish. Other participants felt that completing WFDSS is generally seen as the responsibility of the fire organization, which contributes to decreased interest in WFDSS involvement from Line Officers and natural resource specialists.

Interviewees partially attributed the lack of broader Line Officer or resource specialist interest in WFDSS to its initial implementation process. This is because WFDSS was introduced only through the fire organization, which some respondents felt gave the impression that the input of natural resource specialists was not needed, and potentially discouraged them from participating in the decision-making process. As one fire manager summarized:

...it just seems like it the way that [WFDSS] rolled out was that it was a requirement that fire had to do...I think it's evolving, and it has evolved over the last, you know, five years, as

we've had more fires and Line Officers have, like, had to learn on the fly. I think they take more ownership of it now, but there's still people within their shops, within their staff, that I don't think are on board or understand how much it impacts them.

Interviewees cited political pressures as another contributing factor to the lack of consistency between decisions documented in WFDSS and actions taken on-the-ground. They indicated that concern from the public and elected officials can sway fire managers towards a course of action that is different than the one articulated in the WFDSS decision. As one participant summarized: "There's way more political considerations that are not necessarily encompassed within WFDSS that affect those decisions rather than the documentation and WFDSS."

Finally, participants indicated that experience can influence both the incongruence between actions on-the-ground and the WFDSS decision and managers use of WFDSS primarily for documentation. Some interviewees described how WFDSS may not yet be fully accepted fire managers with a strictly operational background. They indicated that many IMTs do not care about the direction provided in a WFDSS decision, preferring instead to develop direction based on their own internal evaluation of operational needs and concerns. Experienced fire managers also described relying on their intuition and previous experience to make timely decisions without the assistance of WFDSS. They indicated that their long-term experience had allowed them to learn how fire behaves under various fuel, weather or topographic scenarios and become familiar with how values at risk are impacted by fire. Participants explained that during emerging incidents fire mangers often default to their experience and rely on their instincts because there is insufficient time or personnel available to develop a WFDSS decision. In these cases, WFDSS was used primarily to document the decisions and actions that resulted from conversations among experienced fire managers. As one interviewee recounted:

I guess, maybe to put it a different way, if you've got those folks around, good experience and know the place and know how a fire's going to behave, then they're going to get, through their instincts and their experience, they're going to get you most of the way where the WFDSS decision would take you.

The challenges described by participants above could limit the circumstances where WFDSS is perceived as beneficial or useful. For instance, participants described how WFDSS is likely to be more useful during small natural ignitions in remote wilderness areas. Higher likelihood of benefit might also occur between days of high fire growth on large fires, when important values are not

immediately threatened, when proficient WFDSS users are available to drive the program, and when there is sufficient time to assemble the necessary people and navigate the WFDSS process.

Existing Training and Training Preferences

Interviewees described WFDSS training opportunities as inconsistent. They associated that inconsistency in training to variability in the quality of WFDSS decisions produced and in WFDSS use across forests and ranger districts in the NWCC. Some interviewees recounted that initial WFDSS training in 2009 followed a "train the trainer approach," with in-person training offered to high level regional staff who were then expected to train others. Participants felt that this approach was not always successful because the newly trained individuals were not experienced enough or did not have enough technical skill with WFDSS to effectively teach others. Participants described that current WFDSS training opportunities usually consist of informal, annual "WFDSS users. Interviewees indicated that training effectiveness and quality varies based on the skill level of the individuals facilitating the refresher. For example, a few participants felt that they received adequate training because a highly proficient WFDSS user developed extensive local training opportunities, while other participants described difficulties learning how to use WFDSS because a lack of local expertise prevented the development of high-quality trainings. As one interviewee put it:

I have found [local trainings] useful, if there's a lead other than on the district. If it's someone who is a good teacher that has those skills to be, like a data analyst skill set, to where there aren't many questions they can't answer, to come in and really help facilitate and drive, then yes. I think it's very beneficial. But if it's left up to the individual district, where the teachers are the core members, then we're just going to our skill level and we're not really able to stretch that skill level.

Several interviewees felt that in the absence of quality training they were left to figure out how to use WFDSS on their own through "trial and error" and "frustration." Many participants expressed appreciation for the abundant online training resources and help guides published on the WFDSS website, and the WFDSS server dedicated to training. However, interviewees indicated that most WFDSS users do not have the motivation or time to sift through online training resources in order to train themselves or to find a particular piece of information. For example, a few selfdescribed "fire geeks" explained that they took the time and energy to explore online training resources because they valued the datasets and models contained within WFDSS and appreciated the underlying intent. On the other hand, many interviewees indicated that they are unlikely to learn how to use WFDSS on their own, regardless of the amount of self-help materials, because they view it as just one more task that competes against other priorities for their already limited time and attention. As one respondent said:

If you're on a forest that doesn't have somebody who knows what they're doing, I don't know how you're supposed to get the training. Honestly, web-based training, figure it out for yourself, that just doesn't work for a lot of people.

Participants indicated that WFDSS is best learned by doing, and emphasized the role of mentorships during on-the-job training. Participants stated that informal or online trainings are useful for introducing the basics such as the underlying intent, overall layout, or "button pushing" within WFDSS. However, working through WFDSS decisions on live fires is necessary in order to learn the intricacies of the program. As one interviewee put it: "The formal training somewhat [prepared me to use WFDSS], but the on-the-job stuff, I think just getting in and doing it a few times, that's how I learned the best anyway."

Interviewees explained that shadowing more experienced WFDSS users during fires was essential because it taught them the how to use WFDSS during real world situations, including time pressures. Several participants described having higher confidence with WFDSS following opportunities to use it on the job. Meanwhile, another interviewee who had only been to a classroom training felt that her preparation was incomplete without real-world experience.

Participants indicated that they would like more high-level agency support for WFDSS and advanced training targeted to key users. They indicated that the staff of many National Forests do not have the opportunity (e.g. high fire activity, staff with WFDSS skills and interest) to develop and maintain a local source of WFDSS expertise. Several interviewees described receiving extremely beneficial in-person assistance from RDA members during times of high fire activity. They used these experiences in their calls for additional and more readily available high-level support during times when the WFDSS skill level exceeds the ability of local resources. As one interviewee said:

I think one of the big things I would change is I would lean hard towards having more of a national level support network for [WFDSS], folks like that [RDA member] level of skill... Calling somebody has always been great, but having them actually sitting here in person has been invaluable to us. Interviewees described a need for additional, advanced WFDSS trainings to increase the skill level of active WFDSS users and thus improve local training efforts. Many participants indicated that they benefited the most from in-person training or on-the-job mentorship opportunities, although they recognized the associated increases in cost and time that such training entails. Several interviewees recalled individuals who had completed details, or short term work assignments with the RDA, and who had then returned to their home units with strong WFDSS skills and an enhanced ability to help others with the program. Interviewee responses indicate that navigating the WFDSS interface and authoring a decision is a technical skill in its own right, and that advanced training should be targeted to the relatively small number of WFDSS authors that are actively involved in authoring the majority of decisions. As one interviewee summarized:

I think so much of that particular training, you know, you have well-meaning people or what have you, and we do too much of the, you know, throw it against the wall and see what sticks. I just think we need to be much more targeted to who gets that training, and I'm certainly not trying to be elitist or anything like that, it's just a good use of people's time, that's a good use of people's time."

5: Discussion

Summary of Findings

This research explored the use of wildland fire science and technology as it applies to DSS adoption success. More specifically, we identified factors that contributed to or hindered fire managers' perceived utility for WFDSS and gauged their preferences for WFDSS training. Our results suggest that managers find value in using WFDSS after the fact to document the decisions they make using their experience and intuition. However, several challenges including the timeliness of WFDSS outputs, the complexity of the WFDSS application, and the availability of proficient users to run the program limit the extent to which WFDSS accomplishes its intended purpose of facilitating and documenting risk-informed decision making. Fire managers perceived that WFDSS has more utility for informing decision making during circumstances where these barriers are less apparent, and there is sufficient time and people available to develop a fire management strategy using the WFDSS decision-making process. These circumstances include fires that are burning in remote areas or are not immediately threatening important values-at-risk, as well as times in-between days of large fire growth. Many of the barriers to WFDSS use reflect and extend those commonly described in broader DSS adoption literature. In the following sections we discuss how our findings relate to existing theory surrounding DSS adoption and consider future directions for WFDSS development.

WFDSS and Links to Existing DSS Theory

Many of the factors that influence the manner in which fire managers use WFDSS as well as their perceptions of benefit and satisfaction with WFDSS are interlinked (Fig. 1.3). For example, the way in which WFDSS was implemented largely to fire staff has contributed both directly and indirectly, through decreased top management support from Line Officers, to a lack of people available to run WFDSS. The lack of people available to run WFDSS increases the time it takes to develop WFDSS decisions, which leads to WFDSS outputs being used to document actions that have already happened, as well as WFDSS decisions being disconnected with on-the-ground actions. Figure 1.3 provides a visual representation of the relationships between many of our findings.



Figure 1.3. Linkage of factors influencing perceptions of WFDSS satisfaction and benefit Many of the factors that contribute to fire manager perceptions of WFDSS benefit or satisfaction are interlinked. For example, manager reliance on experience leads them to perceive that WFDSS does not change fire management decisions, which reinforces their use of WFDSS for primarily documenting the decisions they have already made using their experience and intuition.

Our results indicate that manager experience and cognitive style influences user satisfaction and perceived benefits surrounding WFDSS. More specifically, results suggest that highly experienced fire mangers may not perceive WFDSS as a beneficial aid for decision making because they use their previous experience as the context in which they frame decision-making tasks. There is a well-documented emphasis on practical experience within the culture of fire management (Wilson et al. 2011) which prevents some decision makers from utilizing WFDSS to its full planned intent. On the other hand, some senior managers without significant fire management experience (e.g. resource specialists and Line Officers) may perceive WFDSS as useful because it helps them place decisionmaking tasks in a broader context that their level of experience fails to provide. Thus, our findings help bring some clarity to existing DSS literature which present conflicting results concerning the effect of experience level upon DSS adoption (Guimaraes et al. 1992) by suggesting that job-related fire experience can negatively influence DSS adoption.

Analytical decision makers may perceive WFDSS as beneficial to fire decision making because it provides an abundance of data and models that support their cognitive decision-making style. Heuristic decision makers, on the other hand, may perceive WFDSS as less useful because their decision-making style does not involve the kinds of information and processes that WFDSS offers. Interviewees sometimes described those who were self-motivated to use WFDSS as "fire geeks." We would suggest that this alludes to the role of cognitive style differences (e.g. analytical or heuristic) in forming user satisfaction or perceived benefit towards WFDSS (Barki and Huff 1990, Green and Hughes 1986). Results suggesting increased DSS satisfaction among analytic decision makers are similar to some findings in existing DSS literature (Lu et al. 2001).

Participants indicated that elements of WFDSS design and its implementation process were far more salient to program utility, although user characteristics such as experience and cognitive style remain factors of interest. Timeliness, ease of use of WFDSS, and changes to management decisions caused by WFDSS use strongly influenced perceptions of WFDSS satisfaction and benefit. While DSS implementation literature often considers timeliness of DSS outputs as a relevant factor in adoption success (Fuerst and Cheney 1982), the time-compressed nature of fire incident decision making significantly increases the importance of timeliness for WFDSS adoption, and likely for other FMDSSs. The timeliness of WFDSS was linked to what users described as the complexity and difficulty of using the program. In the case of WFDSS, where usage is mandated by policy, fire managers expressed decreased perceptions of satisfaction and benefit because the complexity and difficulty of using WFDSS prevented them from being able to develop decisions quickly enough to be useful when fire situations changed rapidly. In that respect our findings differ and extend the "userfriendliness" or ease of use often discussed in existing literature concerning DSS usage, whereby a user is presumed to be less likely to choose to use a DSS if they find it overly complex or difficult to implement (Dulcic et al. 2012). Managers are not less likely to use WFDSS because of its complexity, but rather experience frustration with it because they are required to use a DSS that they find overly complex for the purposes of supporting decision making. We found that as WFDSS has increased in both capacity and complexity over time, the skill level required to use WFDSS proficiently and in a timely manner increasingly exceeds the abilities of many fire managers. These concerns have limited the number of users who are proficient with the program and further exacerbated the lack of timeliness of WFDSS outputs.

Our findings indicate that fire managers did not always feel that WFDSS outputs changed the course fire management decisions because the lack of timely WFDSS decisions reinforced their reliance on experience and intuition. As a result managers used WFDSS most often to justify and document decisions after the fact. Thus, our findings extend existing literature on DSS implementation to a fire context in that adoption success is closely tied to the ability of the DSS to changes decision outcomes (Bailey and Pearson 1983). Fire managers sometimes perceive WFDSS as less useful because associated decisions are often disconnected with on-the-ground actions. Many of the factors that contribute to WFDSS decisions being disconnected with on-the-ground actions

broadly relate to top management support for WFDSS and involvement in WFDSS development, which are implementation characteristics discussed in the next section.

DSS adoption literature indicates that implementation characteristics may be the most influential factors to DSS success (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992). Similarly, our results indicate that user involvement in DSS, top management support, and training are important implementation characteristics that influence fire managers' perceptions of satisfaction and benefit with WFDSS. User involvement generally refers to including decision makers in DSS design and development, which is thought to increase a decision maker's sense of ownership with a DSS and increase perceptions of DSS satisfaction and benefit (King and Rodriquez 1981, Zinkhan et al. 1987). We define user involvement as the extent to which all managers impacted by WFDSS decisions are involved in the decision-making process. Our results suggest that a lack of user involvement decreases WFDSS adoption through its contribution to on-the-ground actions that are in conflict with WFDSS decisions. For example, if IMT members are not involved in the WFDSS decision-making process, they may prefer to pursue a strategy developed though their own assessment of operational concerns, rather than follow direction given to them through a process in which they had no involvement.

Another user involvement factor emerging from our results indicates that developing WFDSS decisions is largely performed by fire staff despite its intended use by Line Officers (e.g. district rangers, forest supervisors). Consequently, WFDSS is often seen as a fire program responsibility rather than a Line Officer responsibility. The outcome of these perspectives have far-reaching implications relating to top management support for WFDSS, a lack of people availability to run WFDSS, and decreased involvement of resource specialists with the program. For instance, our results indicate that Line Officers may not see the value in or prioritize WFDSS as much as they should because its initial implementation process included trainings that were largely targeted to subordinate fire staff. One way in which this is manifested concerns a shortage of skilled WFDSS users who are regularly available to run WFDSS, which further exacerbates previously discussed issues with the timeliness of WFDSS. The perception that WFDSS is a fire program responsibility contributes to a shortage of people available to the program because the fire staff employees who comprise the majority of proficient WFDSS users are usually busy with pressing operational concerns during fire incidents. Top management support from Line Officers that could address this issue by directing other program areas (e.g. silviculture, hydrology, wildlife biology etc.) to prioritize helping develop WFDSS decisions is often lacking. We discuss options for achieving this change in management style in the next section.

Training could improve WFDSS users' perceptions of satisfaction or benefit. DSS adoption literature consistently describes training as one of the most important implementation characteristics, suggesting that training can help overcome barriers to DSS adoption associated with several individual user and DSS characteristics (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992, Loucks 1995). Our results reiterate and extend the importance of training when implementing DSSs by suggesting that there may have been insufficient training during the initial implementation of WFDSS, and that current WFDSS training opportunities may be insufficient in some places to overcome the evolving nature of the program. The "train-the-trainer" approach to WFDSS implementation described in our results appeared to have had varying success depending on how well the initial training prepared users to teach others. Often managers were left to learn how to use WFDSS independently as best they could through online training resources. However, this approach may not be successful for those who are not predisposed to see benefit in using WFDSS because of their past fire management experience or tendency toward heuristic decision making. Many managers lacking a solid foundation in WFDSS have subsequently struggled to keep their skills compatible as WFDSS continues to increase in complexity and capacity. Overall, it appears that some of the factors that have complicated WFDSS adoption stem from the relatively unsupported manner in which it was implemented. This example highlights the need for a robust training program surrounding complex science and technology innovations in order to maximize adoption.

Future Direction

Our results indicate that the process of completing a WFDSS decision provided many perceived benefits to resource professionals and fire managers. They reported that most of those benefits occur after a fire, including the documentation of fire management decisions, or under relatively benign fire conditions when there is enough time to assemble the right people and navigate the in-depth WFDSS decision development process. Addressing the challenges surrounding WFDSS use may help improve the utility of WFDSS decision making during more critical conditions.

Increasing training efforts surrounding WFDSS presents perhaps the largest opportunity to improve WFDSS adoption. Our results indicate that fire managers prefer advanced, in-depth training opportunities targeted towards those who frequently use WFDSS for local fire management decision making, and a support network of expert, high-level WFDSS users to provide mentorship in order to develop the skill sets of local users. It may be beneficial to target training towards improving the skillset of WFDSS Authors, who are expected to be proficient at navigating the WFDSS user interface and drafting much of the WFDSS decision content. Increasing the ability of WFDSS Authors to efficiently navigate the complex WFDSS user interface and draft decisions could improve the timeliness of WFDSS outputs and increase adoption success as managers see WFDSS supporting real-time decision making. Furthermore, developing a geographically dispersed network of proficient WFDSS Authors could improve local training and support for WFDSS that respondents noted is currently lacking in many units. Training to build Author skillsets could involve advanced level classes or on-the-job mentorship opportunities. Mentorship programs could take the form of expert WFDSS users providing in-person support to local units during times of high fire activity, or could involve sending newly trained Authors off-unit in order to gain WFDSS experience during fire events elsewhere. In either case, it is likely that some form of cross-forest training will be required in order to share the learning opportunities available at units who experience high fire activity with units that are less likely to feature active fire seasons.

Some DSS implementation research suggests that training efforts can help moderate the effects of user characteristics and increase DSS adoption success (Alavi and Joachimstaler 1992). To this end, local WFDSS refresher trainings that involve a wide cross section of managers should thoroughly explain the underlying intent behind decision support and the value of WFDSS for improving fire management decision making. Such trainings could involve examples or after-action reviews of WFDSS decisions developed for actual fire incidents in order to demonstrate how WFDSS improves decision outcomes by complimenting the experience and intuition that fire managers possess. These interventions may increase buy-in for those who possess experience or a cognitive style that does not predisposed them to see value in WFDSS. Consequently, disconnects between WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions may diminish as managers see more value in WFDSS and become more likely to implement WFDSS decisions during fire incidents.

Existing literature on FMDSS has noted the importance of matching the difficulty of using FMDSS to the abilities of fire managers (Pacheco 2015, Thompson and Calkin 2011). Future efforts to match WFDSS complexity and fire manager abilities may begin by defining the acceptable timeframe for decision development, and then ensuring that a WFDSS user possessing average training and experience can successfully produce a WFDSS decision of sufficient quality within this timeframe. If an average WFDSS user is not able to develop a WFDSS decision within that timeframe (as our results suggest) then consideration may be given as to how to either simplify the WFDSS process or increase the skill level of WFDSS users through training or mentorship opportunities as discussed above. It may be that a combination of improving user abilities and reducing WFDSS complexity will be needed to make the timeliness of the WFDSS decision development process relevant to wildfire incident decision making. Additional research is needed to provide specifics as to what constitutes an acceptable timeframe for WFDSS development or determine what elements of WFDSS could be eliminated or modified in order to reduce complexity.

High-level WFDSS guidance for Line Officers should emphasize that WFDSS is a tool for them to support their decision making, with input from fire staff and resource specialists, and that it is in their best interest to support efforts to improve WFDSS use. DSS literature emphasizes the role of top management support in DSS implementation, as subordinates are more likely to adopt DSS if they see their supervisors using and promoting DSS (Lucas 1978, Sanders and Courtney 1985). Our findings suggest that increased top management support from Line Officers will be necessary to realize the changes that may need to be made surrounding WFDSS adoption. We have previously noted that the fire program within the Forest Service largely bears responsibility for WFDSS, but is subordinate to Line Officers and is lateral to the various other natural resource management programs. As such, the fire program may not have the means or authority to require that Forest Service employees from other program areas be available to run WFDSS or provide resources to enable employees to attend additional trainings. Some have observed that Line Officers increasingly lack meaningful experience with fire suppression or fire decision making (Canton-Thompson et al. 2008), which may contribute to the lack of top management support for WFDSS. Regional Offices or the Washington Office could encourage Line Officers to take greater ownership of WFDSS and hold them accountable for their role in ensuring that the training, skillsets, and people needed to complete WFDSS in a timely manner are in place.

Increased Line Officer support for WFDSS could begin by prioritizing training and requiring that resource specialists be more involved in WFDSS decision development. This would improve the availability of people to run WFDSS when fires occur because unlike fire staff, most resource specialists do not have operational responsibilities with fire management that prevent them from spending time developing a WFDSS decision. Training resource specialists to take on roles as WFDSS Authors may be particularly effective, as they often already possess skillsets applicable towards WFDSS use such as GIS, technical writing, and database management. Increasing the availability of skilled WFDSS Authors could help improve issues with the timeliness of WFDSS, which is linked to fire managers using WFDSS largely for documentation and disconnects with WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions.

Our results suggest that disconnects between WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions sometimes stem from differences between the management direction given by Line Officers through the WFDSS decision and the preferred strategies of IMTs. One way in which these disconnects could be minimized is to improve IMT participation in WFDSS. Increasing the extent to which IMT members are involved in the WFDSS decision development process may help reduce inconsistencies between WFDSS decisions and on-the-ground actions by giving IMTs a greater sense of understanding and ownership of WFDSS decisions, possibly leading to improve implementation of

those decisions. One way to better incorporate IMTs into the WFDSS decision-making process could be to increase the use of the Strategic Operations Planning (SOPL) position. The SOPL position is an Incident Command System (ICS) qualification that requires considerable previous firefighting experience as well as strong understanding and proficiency with WFDSS. SOPLs serve as advocates for Line Officers and as a communication link between Line Officers and IMTs (McHugh 2015). Units ordering an IMT should be encouraged to also order a SOPL if the IMT roster does not already include one. Leveraging the experience of individuals holding this qualification could help improve the connection that IMTs have with WFDSS and limit actions occurring in conflict with WFDSS decisions.

Finally, our findings raise questions about the utility of WFDSS as a decision support tool supporting risk-informed decision making during fires because its use by professionals is largely reactive rather than proactive, although some proactive elements exist (e.g. pre-planned management objectives from land and resource management or fire management plans). WFDSS is predominantly reactive in that the decision-making process does not begin until after an ignition occurs, requiring managers to determine what course of action is most appropriate in order to best meet management objectives. The results of this study challenge that approach in that respondents described how factors of timeliness, complexity, and lack of people make it difficult to develop a WFDSS decision at the moment a decision is needed. There may be opportunity to improve the timeliness of the decision-making process through enhanced training that increases the number of skilled WFDSS users or a simpler user interface as discussed previously, but this approach would likely face diminishing returns because time constraints will always be present. A better approach may require a shift in the way that WFDSS is used towards more proactive pre-planning for fire response.

One way to accomplish more proactive WFDSS use could be to include the Potential wildland fire Operational Delineations (PODs) concept within WFDSS as a framework for preplanning (Thompson et al. 2016). PODs summarize some of the analysis involved with risk-informed decision making prior to the ignition of a wildfire, which could assist fire managers to quickly make risk-informed fire response decisions. PODs are geographic areas defined by possible wildland fire control features such as ridges, rivers, roads, or other features that present barriers to fire spread. A suite of various spatial wildfire risk assessments within each POD indicate whether fire occurrence would result in a net positive outcome or a net negative outcome. PODs are subsequently amalgamated into strategic response zones (SRZs) (e.g. protection, restoration, maintenance) that support objectives found in land and resource management plans (Thompson et al. 2016). The POD concept presents an opportunity to configure WFDSS in a manner that retains its beneficial components while mitigating some of its challenges. For example, incorporating spatial fire preplanning using the POD concept into WFDSS may streamline the process of publishing initial WFDSS decisions by reducing the amount of time spent on analysis and deliberation during the often chaotic circumstances surrounding new ignitions or on days of rapid fire growth. While the POD framework is unlikely to replace the full range of tools and processes in WFDSS, it may help fire managers leverage the strengths of WFDSS (e.g. documenting decisions with some accompanying rationale) by describing how and why the decisions they made in real time either followed or deviated from a range of response options outlined through spatial fire pre-planning. The POD concept has been implemented on some National Forests, and has been well received (Wei et al. 2018).

Conclusion

The research presented here begins to address a large gap concerning the adoption success of fire science and technology transfer efforts. While more research is needed in order to definitively say whether or not WFDSS has achieved adoption success, it is fair to say that WFDSS has some areas of utility, but also faces significant challenges to its adoption. We discuss opportunities to address these challenges through improving training and top management support, as well as modifying WFDSS to increase ease-of-use and support proactive risk-informed fire management decision making. Our findings emphasize the importance of the implementation process surrounding FMDSSs adoption and show that the broader literature surrounding DSS adoption is largely applicable to FMDSS efforts. As FMDSS continue to proliferate, future efforts to implement FMDSS should consider the results of this study as well as DSS adoption literature as a whole in order to maximize adoption success.

6: References

Alavi M, Joachimsthaler E (1992) Revisiting DSS implementation research: a meta-analysis of the literature and suggestions for researchers. *MIS Quarterly* **16**(**1**), 95-116.

Aronson J (1994) A pragmatic view of thematic analysis. The Qualitative Report 2(1), 1-3.

Bailey JE, Pearson SW (1983) Development of a tool for measuring and analyzing computer use satisfaction. *Management Science* **29(5)**, 530-545.

Barbour J (2007) Accelerating adoption of fire science and related research. Report to the Joint Fire Science Program JFSP Project #05-S-07 Available at https://www.firescience.gov/projects/05-S-07/project/05-S-07_final_report.pdf. [Verified 25 January 2019]

Barki H, Huff S (1990) Implementing decision support systems: Correlates of user satisfaction and system usage. *INFOR Information Systems and Operational Research* **28(2)**, 89–100.

Bokari RH (2005) The relationship between system usage and user satisfaction: a meta analysis. *The Journal of Enterprise Information Management* **18(2)**, 221-234.

Boyatzis RE (1998) 'Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development.' (Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA)

Brown TJ, Hall BL, Westerling AL (2004) Impact of twenty first climate change on wildland fire danger in the western United States: an applications perspective. *Climatic Change* **62**, 365-388.

Bruins RJF, Munns WR Jr, Botti SJ, Brink S, Cleland D, Kapustka L, Lee D, Luzadis V, McCarthy LF, Rana N, Rideout DB, Rollins M, Woodbury P, Zupko M (2010) A new process for organizing assessments of social, economic, and environmental outcomes: Case study of wildland fire management in the USA. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management* **6**(3), 469-483.

Bryman A (2012) 'Social research methods, 4th ed.' (Oxford University Press: New York, NY)

Calkin DE, Ager AA, Thompson MP (2011) A comparative risk assessment framework for wildland fire management: the 2010 cohesive strategy science report. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-262. (Fort Collins, CO)

Canton-Tompson J, Gebert KM, Thompson B, Jones G, Calkin D, Donovan G (2008) External human factors in incident management team decision making and their effect on large fire suppression expenditures. Journal of Forestry. **106(8)**, 416-424.

Davis GB, Olson MH (1985) 'Management information systems: conceptual foundations, structure and development, second ed.' (McGraw-Hill: New York, NY)

Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR (1989) User acceptance of computer technology: A comparison of two theoretical models. *Management Science* **35(8)**, 982-1003.

Dennison PE, Brewer SC, Arnold JD, Moritz MA (2014) Large wildfire trends in the western United States, 1984–2011. *Geophysical Research Letters* **41**, 2928–2933.

Doktor RH, Hamilton WF (1973) Cognitive style and the acceptance of management science recommendations. *Management Sciences* **19(8)**, 884-894.

Dulcic Z, Pavlic D, Silic I (2012) Evaluating the intended use of decision support system (DSS) by applying technology acceptance model (TAM) in business organizations in Croatia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences* **58**, 1565-1575.

Fuerst WL, Cheney, PH (1982) Concepts, theory and techniques: Factors affecting the perceived utilization of computer based decision support systems in the oil industry. *Decision Sciences* **13(4)**, 554-569.

Galletta DF, Lederer AL (1989) Some cautions on the measurement of user information Satisfaction. *Decision Sciences* **20**, 419-38.

Goldstein KM, Blackman G (1978) 'Cognitive style: five approaches and relevant research.' (Wiley-InterScience, New York, NY)

GAO (2007) Wildland fire management: lack of clear goals or a strategy hinders federal agencies' effort to contain the costs of fighting fires. US Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters, GAO-07–655.

Gomm R (2009) Key concepts in social research methods, (Palgrave MacMillan, London, UK)

Green GI, Hughes CT (1986) Effects of decision support systems training and cognitive style on decision process attributes. *Journal of Management Information Systems* **3**(2), 83-93.

Guimaraes T, Igbari M, Lu M (1992) The determinants of DSS success: an integrated model. *Decision Sciences* **23**(2), 409-430.

Huysman JHBM (1970) The effects of the cognitive style constraint in implementing operations research proposals. *Management Science* **17(1)**, 92-104.

Ives B, Hamilton S, Davis G (1980) A framework for research in computer based information systems. *Management Science* **26(9)**, 910-934.

Ives B, Olson MH, Baroudi JJ (1983) The measurement of user information satisfaction. *Communications of the ACM* **26**(10), 785-793.

Kalabokidis KD, Gatzojannis S, Galatsidas S (2002) Introducing wildfire into forest management planning: towards a conceptual approach. *Forest Ecology and Management* **158**, 41-50.

King WR, Rodriguez JI (1981) Participative design of strategic decision support systems: an empirical assessment. *Management Science* **27**, 717-726.

Liang PT (1986) Critical success factors of decision support systems: An experimental study. ACM SIGMIS Database: The DATABASE for Advances in Information Systems 17(2), 3-16.

Loucks DP (1995) Developing and implementing decision support systems: A critique and a challenge. *Water Resources Bulletin* **31(4)**, 571-582.

Lucas HC (1975) Performance and the use of an information system. *Management Science* **21(8)**, 908-919.

Lucas HC (1978) Empirical evidence for a descriptive model of implementation. *MIS Quarterly* **2**(2), 27-42.

Lu HP, Yu HJ, Lu, SSK (2001) The effects of cognitive style and model type on DSS acceptance: An empirical study. *European Journal of Operational Research* **131**(**3**), 649–663.

McHugh C (2015) Strategic operations planning-It's not just for wilderness! How the Strategic Operations Planner can help. In 'Proceedings of the large wildland fires conference', 19-23 May 2014, Missoula, MT. (Eds. Keane RE, Jolly M, Parsons R, Riley K). USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, General Technical Report RMRS-P-73, pp. 156-162. (Fort Collins, CO)

Mahmood MA and Sniezek JA (1989) Defining decision support systems: An empirical assessment of end-user satisfaction. *INFOR* **27**(**3**), 253-271.

Mann RI, Watson HJ (1984) A contingency model for user involvement in DSS development. *MIS Quarterly* **8(1)**, 27-38.

Martell DL (1982) A review of operational research studies in forest fire management. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **12**, 119-140.

Martell DL (2011) The development and implementation of forest fire management decision support systems in Ontario, Canada: Personal reflections on past practices and emerging challenges. *Mathematical and Computational Forestry and Natural-Resource Sciences* **3**(1), 18-26.

Martell DL (2015) A review of recent forest and wildland fire management decision support systems research. *Current Forestry Reports* **1**(2), 128-137.

Mavsar R, Cabán AG, Varela E (2013) The state of development of fire management decision support systems in America and Europe. *Forest Policy and Economics* **29**, 45-55.

Miller C, Ager AA (2013) A review of recent advances in risk analysis for wildfire management. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **22**, 1-14.

Minas JP, Hearne JW, Handmer JW (2012) A review of operations research methods applicable to wildfire management. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **21**, 189–96.

Mell WE, Manzello SL, Maranghides A, Butry D, Rehm RG (2010) The wildland–urban interface fire problem – current approaches and research needs. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **19**, 238–251.

Morse JM (1995) The significance of saturation. Qualitative Health Research 5(2), 147–49.

Morton DC, Ressing ME, Camp AE, Tyrrel ML (2003) Assessing the Environmental, Social, and Economic Impacts of Wildfire. Yale University School of Forestry & Environmental Studies - Global Institute of Sustainable Forestry. GISF Research Paper 001. Available at https://gisf.yale.edu/sites/default/files/files/wildfire_report(1).pdf [Verified 29 March 2019] Mysiak J, Giupponi C, Rosato P (2003) Towards the development of a decision support system for water resource management. *Environmental Modelling and Software* **20**, 203-214.

NIFC (National Interagency Fire Center) (2017) Interagency Fire and Aviation Operations. (USDI, USDA; Washington, DC) Available at https://www.nifc.gov/PUBLICATIONS/redbook/2017/RedBookAll.pdf. [Verified 25 January 2019]

NWCG (National Wildfire Coordinating Group) (2009) Update on the Modifications to the Interagency Strategy for the Implementation of Federal Wildland Fire Management Policy. National Wildfire Coordinating Group Memo Number 001-2009. Available at https://www.nwcg.gov/sites/default/files/memos/eb-m-09-001.pdf. [Verified 11 January 2019]

Noonan-Wright EK, Opperman TS, Finney MA, Zimmerman GT, Seli RC, Elenz LM, Calkin DE, Fiedler JR (2011) Developing the US wildland fire decision support system. *Journal of Combustion* **2011**, 1-14.

O'Conner CD, Thompson MP, Rodríguez y Silva F (2016) Getting ahead of the wildfire problem: Quantifying and mapping management challenges and opportunities. *Geosciences* **6**(**3**), 35-53.

Pacheco AP, Claro J, Fernandes PM, Neufville R, Oliveira TM, Borges JG, Rodrigues JC (2015) Cohesive fire management within an uncertain environment: A review of risk handling and decision support systems. *Forest Ecology and Management* **347**, 1-17.

Pence M, Zimmerman T (2011) The Wildland Fire Decision Support System: Integrating science, technology, and fire management. *Fire Management Today* **71**(1), 18–22.

Rachaniotis NP, Pappis CP (2006) Scheduling fire-fighting tasks using the concept of "deteriorating jobs". *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36**, 652-658.

Richards L (2014) 'Handling qualitative data: A practical guide 3rd ed.' (Sage: London, UK)

Ryan GW, Bernard HR (2000) Data management and analysis methods. In 'Handbook of qualitative research 2nd ed'. (Eds NK. Denzin, YS Lincoln) pp.769–802. (Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA)

Sakellariou S, Tampekis S, Samara F, Sfougaris A, Christopoulou O (2017) Review of state-of-theart decision support systems (DSSs) for prevention and suppression of forest fires. *Journal of Forestry Research* **28(6)**, 1107-1117.

Sanders LG, Courtney JF (1985) A field study of organizational factors influencing DSS success. *Management Information Systems Quarterly* **9(1)**, 77-93.

Schoennagel T, Veblen TT, Romme WH (2004) The interaction of fire, fuels, and climate across Rocky Mountain Forests. *BioScience* **54**(**7**), 661-676.

Strauss A, Corbin J (1990) 'Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and Techniques.' (Sage: Newbury Park, CA)

Taber MA, Elen LM, Langowski PG (2013) Decision making for wildfires: A guide for applying a risk management process at the incident level. USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-298WWW. (Fort Collins, CO)

Thomas DR (2006) A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative data. *American Journal of Evaluation* **27(2)**, 237-246.

Thompson MP, Ager AA, Finney MA, Calkin DE, Vaillant NM (2012) The science and opportunity of wildfire risk assessment. In 'Novel approaches and their applications in risk assessment'. (Ed. Luo Y) pp. 99-120. (InTech: New York)

Thompson MP, Calkin DE (2011) Uncertainty and risk in wildland fire management: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management* **92**, 1985-1909.

Thompson MP, Bowden P, Brough A, Scott JH, Gilbertson-Day J, Taylor A, Anderson J, Haas JR (2016) Application of wildfire risk assessment results to wildfire response planning in the Southern Sierra Nevada, California, USA. *Forests* **2016**(7), 64.

Thompson MP, Rodríguez y Silva F, Calkin DE, Hand MS (2017) A review of challenges to determining and demonstrating efficiency of large fire management. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **26**, 562-573.

USDA Forest Service (2005) Forest Service Manual, FSM 1230.6.

USDA Forest Service (2012) Role of science in planning, 36 C.F.R. §219.3.

USDA Forest Service (2013) Land management planning handbook, FSH 1909.12 §42.

USDI, USDA (2009) Guidance for Implementation of Federal Wildland Fire Management Policy. (USDI and USDA; Washington, DC) Available at https://www.nifc.gov/policies/policies_documents/GIFWFMP.pdf. [Verified 11 January 2019]

USDI, USDA (1995) Federal wildland fire management policy and program review. (USDI and USDA; Washington DC) Available at

https://www.forestsandrangelands.gov/documents/strategy/foundational/1995_fed_wildland_fire_policy_program_report.pdf. [Verified 25 January 2019]

USDI National Park Service (2017) Chimney Tops 2 Fire Report. (USDI; Washington DC) Available at

https://www.wildfirelessons.net/HigherLogic/System/DownloadDocumentFile.ashx?DocumentFileK ey=2291b1f9-d65a-4915-2257-d76919c16132&forceDialog=0. [Verified 6 September 2017]

USGS (2019) WFDSS Help. Available at https://wfdss.usgs.gov/wfdss_help/index.htm. [Verified 29 March 2019]

Wei Y, Thompson MP, Haas JR, Dillon GK, O'Connor CD (2018) Spatial optimization of operationally relevant large fire confine and point protection strategies: Model development and test cases. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **48**, 1-14.

Westerling ALR (2016) Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371**, 20150178.

WFMRDA (Wildland Fire Management Research Development and Application) (2015) USDA Forest Service Wildland Fire Decision Making Incident Objectives and Incident Requirements. (USDA; Washington, DC) Available at

https://wfmrda.nwcg.gov/docs/_Objectives_&_Example_Fires/Incident_Objectives_Project_BP_201 50701_508.pdf. [Verified 11 January 2019]

WFMRDA (Wildland Fire Management Research Development and Application) (2018) Line Officer Desk Guide for Fire Program Management. Available at https://wfmrda.nwcg.gov/docs/_Line_Officer_Guide/FINAL_LOG_04302018.pdf. [Verified 1 April 2019]

WFEC (Wildland Fire Executive Council) (2014) The national strategy: The final phase in the development of the national cohesive wildland fire management strategy. Available at http://www.forestsandrangelands.gov/leadership/WFEC/index.shtml. [Verified 3 March 2019]

Wilson RS, Winter PL, Maguire LA, Ascher T (2011) Managing wildfire events: Risk-based decision making among a group of federal fire managers. *Risk Analysis* **31(5)**, 805-818.

Wright V (2010) Challenges to implementing "best available science". Fire Science Brief 124, 1-6.

Zimmerman T (2011) Change as a factor in advancing fire management decision making and program effectiveness. In 'Proceedings of the Second Conference on the Human Dimensions of Wildland Fire', 27-29 April 2010, San Antonio, TX. (Eds. SM McCaffrey, C LeBlanc). USDA Forest Service, Northern Research Station, General Technical Report GTR-NRS-P-84, pp. 14-23. (Newtown Square, PA)

Zinkhan GM, Joachimsthaler EA, Kinnear TC (1987) Individual differences and marketing decision support system usage and satisfaction. *Journal of Marketing Research* **24**(**2**), 208-214.

Zmud RW (1979) Individual differences and MIS success: A review of the empirical literature. *Management Science* **25**(10), 966-979.

Zviran M and Erlich Z (2003) Measuring IS user satisfaction: Review and implications. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems* **12(5)**, 81-10.

APPENDIX A: Interview Protocol

- What is your job title, briefly describe your job duties for me. How long have you been in that position?
- What is your experience with using WFDSS?
 - I have your user role(s) listed as _____, does that sound correct?
 - Which role do you use the most?
 - Other classes?
- How confident do you feel using WFDSS?
- Describe what components of WFDSS do you find useful?
 - Information, situation, assessment, objectives, course of action, cost, decisions, periodic assessment, reports.
 - Why do you find those components most useful?
- How useful is WFDSS in guiding fire management decision making?
- What, if anything, would you change about WFDSS?
 - How about the design of the program? Content? Ease-of-use?
 - How would your suggestions improve the program?
- How did you learn to use WFDSS?
 - How about the S classes?
 - Webinars?
 - Conferences?
 - WFDSS 101 / WFDSS Help?
 - Geographic Area Editor Trainings?
- How well did your trainings prepare you to use WFDSS in the field?
 - Where there any trainings that were particularly useful?
- Where do you go when you need help with WFDSS?
 - What resources are available to help use WFDSS?
 - WFDSS help desk? WFDSS website?
 - How often do you use that content?
 - How about your peers or supervisors?
- Given your experience, what types of training do you wish had existed when you first started using WFDSS?

- How would you like those trainings presented?
 - Online or in-person
 - What website / platform?
 - Workshops?
- What are the best ways push out trainings about WFDSS?
- Have you heard of the RD&A? How has their content been useful to you?

** S-495 Class Specific Questions (if applicable) **

- What is your highest level of education? What is it in?
 - Undergraduate, Graduate
- What is your GS level?
- What is your background in fire management?
 - How much experience have you had in
 - o Primary: SMKJ, IHC, HELI, WFM, HC, ENG
 - Secondary: FUELS, PREV, DISP, A/FMO
 - Collateral Duty: MILITIA / AD
- What red card qualification have you held (current and expired)?
- S-495 Class Specific Questions
 - Why did you take S-495?
 - How comfortable would you feel running WFDSS fire behavior analysis at your home unit?
 - How will S-495 material help you in your job?
 - What were you were expecting to learn from this class?
 - What elements of this class helped meet those expectations?
 - What elements of this class were detrimental in meeting those expectations?
 - What information formats did you find most helpful in S-495?
 - o PDFs? Videos, scenarios, lectures
 - What other case studies or scenarios would you like to see in the class?
 - How well did instructor examples help you understand the materials in this class?
 - What worked best and what didn't?
 - What opportunities did you have to practice what was being taught?
 - Describe the feedback you got from class.
 - Would you rather have more, smaller case studies or fewer, large project case studies?
 - Did that change between online and in-person?